# RECEIVED

NOV 3/0 2006

Consolidated with No. 24958-1-III

k of Court Division Three

No. 24957-3-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

FU.ED

OCT 2 9 2007

COUCHER AND ALS DEPTON HI STATE OF VISITINGTON BY

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

YOLANDA ELEUTERIA DEVON,

Defendant/Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE OKANOGAN COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT HONORABLE LESLEY ALLAN, VISITING JUDGE

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

SUSAN MARIE GASCH WSBA No. 16485 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

x<sup>1</sup>

1. The trial court erred in excluding the public from jury voir dire, thus violating appellant's constitutional right to a public trial.

2. The trial court erred in giving legally deficient jury instructions on accomplice liability and second degree manslaughter.

3. The trial court erred in finding sufficient evidence to support the conviction of second degree manslaughter.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Where the trial court did not analyze the <u>Bone-Club<sup>1</sup></u> factors before conducting the private jury voir dire, did the trial court violate appellant's constitutional public trial right by excluding the public from jury voir dire?

2. Where the jury instructions as a whole permitted the jury to find guilt on an incorrect legal basis, was the State impermissibly relieved of its burden to prove each element of the crime of second degree manslaughter beyond a reasonable doubt?

3. Was the evidence insufficient for any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime of second-degree manslaughter?

#### **B.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Yolanda DeVon was charged by amended information with first-

degree premeditated murder or in the alternative, with homicide by abuse.

(CP 246-47) Following trial, 21-year old Yolanda was convicted of

second-degree manslaughter and her 27-year old husband, Jon DeVon,

was convicted of homicide by abuse. (Vol. 8 RP 1487-88, 1607; Vol. 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

RP 1959-60)<sup>2</sup> The charges arose out of the death of 21-month old Aiden V. [hereinafter "A.V."],<sup>3</sup> their son and step-son respectively, resulting from injuries allegedly incurred while in their care. (Vol., 1-10 RP 1-1968)

At a pretrial motion hearing held December 19, 2005, Yolanda's trial counsel mentioned he "was thinking there was quite a bit of publicity about this case so we may have to voir dire some of the jurors individually in chambers ... ." (12/19/05 RP 27) The trial judge suggested the parties be prepared to talk about it at the next hearing, saying:

If there are some greater number than usual for general questions that the Court would ask, maybe you could have your proposals in that regard because we might be able to then identify folks that need to be questioned individually through some general questions that the Court might ask and I've actually done cases that are higher profile where we do some very limited things at the beginning and then actually do the individual questioning and have sometimes weeded out people that way who know about the case or have opinions about the case and then come back for the rest of the voir dire of the whole group and then we also thereby avoid maybe having those people who have obtained things about the cases, convey those to the other jurors and you know, perhaps bias those other jurors. So we can think about that and talk about that on [January 5, 2006].

Ż

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The bulk of the trial, including general voir dire, was recorded. It was then transcribed by Ms. Dori Batson as Vol.umes 1 through 10. Citation to these transcripts will be "Vol... <u>1</u> RP \_\_\_\_\_." The pre-trial hearings and sentencing will be referred to by their dates, e.g. "<u>12/19/05 RP \_\_\_\_\_.</u>" The individual jury questioning on January 10-11, 2006, was court reported by Ms. Loraine Hohnstein, Visiting Judge Lesley Allan's own œurt reporter from Wenatchee. (Vol.. <u>1</u> RP 15) Citations to Ms. Hohnstein's transcripts will also be referred to by their dates, e.g. "<u>1/10/06 RP \_\_\_\_.</u>"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A.V. was born April 5, 2003. (Vol. 3 RP 456; Vol. 8 RP 1489) He died on February 1, 2005. (Vol. 6 RP 1080)

#### (<u>12/19/05</u> RP 28-29)

è

At the status conference held January 5, 2006, the court suggested,

[W]e are going to probably call the jury to come in [next] Tuesday [January 10, 2006] and do what I call the sort of introductory stuff that we do with juries. Put them under oath as jurors and provide them with a questionnaire in whatever form it ends up taking to complete, have them complete the questionnaires, and leave, ... and then we would have the jurors come back on Wednesday morning to begin with the voir dire. ...

(<u>1/5/06</u> RP 162) The court recessed for the day, keeping trial counsel present a few minutes afterward to talk about what time the jurors would be brought in on Tuesday and to cover a few things off the record. (<u>1/5/06</u> RP 165, 179)

On Tuesday, prospective jurors were given questionnaires as planned and after completion, the judge reconvened court and scheduled groups for individual questioning. (<u>Supplemental 1/10/06</u> RP 1-end) Thereafter, individual questioning began, in the presence of Judge Lesley Allan, of Juror No. 1 by Mr. Sloan, Mr. Maxey and Mr. Hammett. Proceedings were recessed at 6:05 p.m. after questioning of Juror No. 25. (<u>1/10/06</u> RP 4, 135) On Wednesday morning, January 11, 2006, the prospective jurors were told:

> What's going to happen this morning is that the attorneys and their clients are back here in Judge's chambers and we've been individually questioning jurors and so we're taking people in numerical order so we're going to be starting with Juror No. 26

...Ms. Horner will be bringing you through this door here and we brought a chair back for you and the attorneys will each ask you some questions and then we'll either tell you to come back at two thirty or you'll be excused.

While you're here waiting, feel free to wait around the courtroom. ... I appreciate your patience as we work through this individual questioning.

(Vol.. 1 RP 11) Individual questioning continued. (1/11/06 RP 141-413) After verification among those present of the 40 jurors remaining in the panel, the proceedings were moved into the courtroom. (1/11/06 RP 413)

General voir dire followed, and a jury was selected and sworn in. (<u>Vol. 1</u> RP 16-63) Trial commenced on January 12, 2006, and the

following pertinent evidence was presented.

÷

A.V. was born to Yolanda DeVon in April 2003, and they lived with her mother, Debra Garrison, in the Tonasket area. (Vol. 3 RP 455; Vol. 8 RP 1488-90) Yolanda, who did not marry or receive child support from the father, provided for her child. (Vol. 8 RP 1490) Yolanda began working as a ward clerk at North Valley Hospital (hereinafter "Hospital") in 2002 while in high school. (Vol. 8 RP 1489) She worked there after graduation, and continued classes begun in high school at Wenatchee Valley College, in Omak. (Vol. 8 RP 1491-92) Yolanda intended to get a Medical Lab Technician certification, and the Hospital worked around her school schedule. (Vol. 8 RP 1491) Yolanda and A.V. moved from her mother's house into a rented house in Tonasket, sharing it with two of her sisters, Rosa (23) and Wendy (27). (Vol. 3 RP 455; Vol. 8 RP 1492) A.V. did not go to daycare, but was bathed and cared for by the sisters when Yolanda was working or attending school. (Vol. 8 RP 1492-93) On the days she worked, Yolanda began in the morning and got done around 7:45 – 8:00 p.m. (Vol. 8 RP 1493) The house was about one block from the Hospital. (Vol. 3 RP 456; Vol. 8 RP 1530, 1569-70)

Jon DeVon, whom she'd known for six years, moved in with Yolanda, A.V. and her sisters in October 2004. (Vol. 8 RP 1493) Rosa lived there full-time, while Wendy did not. (Vol. 8 RP 1494) Bari Ikawa, a co-worker from the Hospital, stayed at the house probably 2 nights a week when she was on call. (Vol. 8 RP 1494) When Jon moved in, Yolanda continued working at the Hospital and attending classes. (Vol. 8 RP 1494-95) Yolanda's mother or sisters would bring A.V. to the Hospital while she was working, twice or more a week. (Vol. 2 RP 252-53; Vol. 4 RP 587, 600; Vol. 8 RP 1499)

Around the beginning of December 2004, Yolanda and Jon decided to get married. (Vol. 8 RP 1495) They were married on [Saturday] January 22, 2005, and honeymooned in Spokane. (Vol. 8 RP 1496-97) Yolanda's mother, Debra Garrison, also worked at the Hospital, as a registered nurse. (Vol. 3 RP 454-55) Debra took care of A.V. from
January 21 through Tuesday, January 25, 2005. (Vol. 3 RP 462; Vol. 8 RP 1497-99) She saw no bruises or bite marks on A.V. (Vol. 3 RP 461-62, 468) Yolanda and Jon picked A.V. up from her mother on January 24, at approximately 10:00 p.m. (Vol. 8 RP 1498)

Wednesday, January 26, Yolanda did not work and was at school. (Vol. 8 RP 1499) Afterwards, she tried to locate Jon, who had A.V., and found out they were at Ken Roberts'. (Vol. 8 RP 1500) She was upset at Jon about his not returning home with A.V. until "maybe earlier" than 10:00 p.m. (Vol. 8 RP 1500-01)

Thursday, January 27, Yolanda was also at school and did not work. (Vol. 8 RP 1501) After getting home, Yolanda, Wendy and A.V., who had stayed with her sisters, drove up to Oroville and met up about 5:00 p.m. with Jon and Shane McDougal at the Chevron. (Vol. 8 RP 1501) After Jon dropped Shane off at his shop,<sup>4</sup> they went home. (Vol. 8 RP 1502)

Friday, January 28, Jon cared for A.V. while Yolanda worked from 7:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., then went to school. (Vol. 8 RP 1502-03) She

¢

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Shane lived with his parents in Oroville, and there was a 'shop' near the house. <u>(Vol. 5</u> RP 936-37)

wasn't positive if Jon was home when she returned. (Vol. 8 RP 1503) Sometime Friday or Saturday Jon told Yolanda that A.V. had fallen off a wood pile on Friday while he was with Jon getting wood, and that Shane McDougal,<sup>5</sup> Craig Cook<sup>6</sup> and Shad Cook<sup>7</sup> were present. (Vol. 8 RP 1505, 1538-39) Jon said he didn't want to take A.V. with him up there to work, because he did get hurt. (Vol. 8 RP 1507, 1551) When A.V. was home Friday, he didn't seem hurt or act unwell. (Vol. 8 RP 1551) While she was working, Yolanda's sister was responsible for bathing A.V. during this period of Friday, Saturday and Sunday. (Vol. 8 RP 1503-04) As A.V. was not potty trained, Jon or her sisters would change his diapers. (Vol. 8 RP 1504) Friday was the first time Yolanda had heard about anything happening to A.V. (Vol. 8 RP 1576)

Saturday, January 29, Jon and her sisters cared for A.V. while Yolanda began work at 7:00 a.m. (Vol. 8 RP 1503) Sometimes A.V. would be up before she went to work. (Vol. 8 RP 1503) On Saturday, Yolanda noticed some bruises on A.V., but they didn't appear serious or out of the ordinary from other bruises he'd had, and she had no reason to

¢

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Shane thought they cut wood on Thursday; his statement to police said it was Wednesday. (<u>Vol. 5</u> RP 940, 945) He said A.V. was not with them while cutting wood. (<u>Vol. 5</u> RP 941)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Craig Cook said he didn't recall what day, but that A.V. was not there when they were cutting wood. (Vol. 5 RP 834-37)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Shad Cook said he did not cut wood with Jon on Friday. (Vol. 5 RP 823)

think they were caused from something other than the fall off a wood pile. (Vol. 8 RP 1505-08) Sometime later. Yolanda had been told that on Saturday or perhaps Friday A.V. had tripped over a step at Shane's house and scraped his nose and cheek. (Vol. 5 RP 942-43; Vol. 8 RP 1506, 1539-40, 1551)

Yolanda may have told some people at work about the bruises. (Vol. 8 RP 1508) She said A.V. did not vomit on Saturday. (Vol. 8 RP 1543) When she got off work around 8:00 p.m. and returned home, Jon and A.V. were not there. (Vol. 8 RP 1504, 1508-09) She would normally go to bed at 9 or 9:30 p.m. when working the next day, and was already in bed when they got home. (Vol. 8 RP 1504, 1509) Yolanda didn't change A.V.'s diaper that night. (Vol. 8 RP 1509) Although A.V. had his own lowered twin bed in their bedroom, Jon brought him into their bed when they got home. (Vol. 8 RP 1509)

About 3:00 a.m. Sunday morning [January 30], A.V. woke up vomiting. (Vol. 8 RP 1511-12) Yolanda didn't take him to the Hospital because she thought he merely had the flu as did her sister Rosa, and her co-workers had been complaining about people that weekend bringing their kids in with flu and exposing others. (Vol. 2 240; Vol. 3 RP 470, 538, 567; Vol. 8 RP 1514-15) Yolanda noticed burn marks to A.V.'s

ł

cheeks. (<u>Vol. 8</u> RP 1516-17) Leaving A.V. home with Jon and Rosa, Yolanda arrived late to work, at 8 or 8:30 a.m. (<u>Vol. 8</u> RP 1511, 1515-16, 1548-49)

ł

Dr. Welton was nearby while Yolanda discussed A.V.'s symptoms and what she could do with the nurses. (Vol. 8 RP 1515) Yolanda went home twice, at 9:30 or 10:00 a.m. and again around noon, to take Tylenol and some burn cream to A.V. (Vol. 8 RP 1516, 1519) A.V. was dressed in sweat pants and a shirt. (Vol. 8 RP 1517) Yolanda gave him the medication and put cream on his cheeks. (Vol. 8 RP 1517-18)

Sometime Sunday Yolanda's mother wanted to take A.V. home with her, but Yolanda didn't want her to because she didn't want to have to drive to Crumbacher to pick A.V. up after work. (Vol. 8 RP 1573-74)

Sunday afternoon Jon called Yolanda at work to tell her he was going up to Oroville to his Uncle Dale's place. (Vol. 8 RP 1520) He told her he would not be gone long; she thought maybe an hour. (Vol. 8 RP 1520) Although she didn't tell Jon, Yolanda wasn't happy with the idea because A.V. was sick. (Vol. 8 RP 1521) Jon switched cars with her, leaving his at the Hospital. (Vol. 8 RP 1523) After work, about 8:00 p.m., a co-worker took Yolanda home to get the truck keys. (Vol. 4 RP 678; Vol. 8 RP 1524) Yolanda got back home about 8:30 p.m. (Vol. 8 RP 1525) Yolanda showered and got to bed about 9:30 p.m. (Vol. 8 RP
1525) Jon returned home before midnight, and put A.V., who was sleeping, in his bed. (Vol. 8 RP 1525, 1549-50) Yolanda was awake, but didn't check on A.V. (Vol. 8 RP 1549)

÷

About 3:00 a.m. [Monday, January 31, 2006], Yolanda woke up to hear A.V. breathing kind of funny, sounding raspy. (Vol. 8 RP 1526) Leaving him sleeping, she turned on the living room lights to grab the phone and returned to her son's side while calling the Hospital. (Vol. 8 RP 1526-27, 1574) As she didn't believe something serious was going on, Yolanda asked to talk to a specific nurse who'd worked at the hospital for years. (Vol. 8 RP 1527-29) Because that person was not working, Yolanda asked the on-call nurse to listen to A.V.'s breathing over the phone. (Vol. 8 RP 1528) The nurse passed the call on to Carol May, who listened and suggested trying steam or outside cold air. (Vol. 6 RP 974-75; Vol. 8 RP 1528) Sensing that the mother would rather just come in, Carol invited her to do so. (Vol. 6 RP 975; Vol. 8 RP 1528)

Because it was cold outside, Yolanda went out to start her truck. (Vol. 8 RP 1528-29) When she came back in, A.V. was not breathing. (Vol. 8 RP 1529) Yolanda had some CPR training that she'd never used, and was too scared to try it. (Vol. 8 RP 1530) She and Jon rushed to the Hospital ER, where Yolanda entered her employee code to get the door open. (Vol. 8 RP 1529)

ŧ

Because of his breathing, Yolanda told the nurses she thought maybe A.V. had swallowed something. (Vol. 8 RP 1531) At the Hospital, Yolanda thought A.V.'s condition was a lot worse than what she'd seen earlier Sunday or Saturday; the bruising she'd seen just on his forehead was now seen all over. (Vol. 8 RP 1532-33) Yolanda called her mother and a co-worker from the Hospital, asking them to come help A.V. (Vol. <u>2 RP 259; Vol. 3 RP 471; Vol. 8 RP 1573</u>)

Dr. Richard Welton tended to A.V. in the Hospital ER. (Vol. 5 RP 755, 757, 761) When A.V. arrived, he was not breathing and had no pulse; his pupils were fixed and he basically appeared dead. (Vol. 5 RP 759) CPR was performed. (Vol. 5 RP 762) A normal heart rate was restored in 26 minutes, but a ventilator was used because A.V. did not resume breathing. ((Vol. 4 RP 614; Vol. 5 RP 762, 764-65) Noting multiple forehead bruises, and what looked like burns across each cheek and both thighs, Dr. Welton believed A.V.'s condition was due to injury, not illness. (Vol. 5 RP 760-61, 766) He concluded A.V. had cardiac arrest due to traumatic brain injury which he attributed to child abuse. (Vol. 5 RP 771) The Hospital made plans to send A.V. to Sacred Heart Children's Hospital in Spokane [hereinafter "Sacred Heart"] for the more complicated treatment he might need. (Vol. 5 RP 765) A.V. was transferred there about 6:10 a.m. (Vol. 2 RP 2990-91)

÷

Yolanda, her mother, Jon and others drove to Spokane. (<u>Vol. 3</u> RP 474, 476, 563, 576; <u>Vol. 4</u> RP 592; (<u>Vol. 5</u> RP 955; <u>Vol. 8</u> RP 1533-34, 1600) Yolanda first noticed burn marks on A.V.'s legs at Sacred Heart. (<u>Vol. 8</u> RP 1518)

At Sacred Heart, Dr. Alan Hendrickson, a non-certified 'pediatric child abuse neglect' specialist, was called in to do a suspected abuse consultation. (Vol. 2 RP 323-24,328-30, 332-33) In his opinion, the closed head brain injury that caused A.V.'s death was clearly inflicted, not accidental. (Vol. 2 RP 359-61, 374) While it is subject to professional debate, this degree of brain injury would almost immediately or within the hour show signs that something was wrong. (Vol. 2 RP 361-62) Dr Hendrickson saw extensive head bruising, extensive retinal hemorrhages, bruising on an ear, some scrape or burn marks on the face, burn marks on the thighs, several bite marks on the legs, bruises on the back, bruises to the abdomen, bruising in the genital area, bruises on top of one foot, bruises on the ribs and buttock area. (Vol. 2 RP 336, 339-40, 345, 347, 349) These "other" injuries on A.V.'s body were not life-threatening.

(<u>Vol. 2</u> RP 352, 374) Any one of the bruises present could have been produced naturally from normal play. (<u>Vol. 2</u> RP 342)

۲

Dr. Caroline Shea, pediatric ophthalmologist, examined A.V. at Sacred Heart. (Vol. 3 RP 397, 401) In her opinion, the quality and quantity of retinal hemorrhages she observed was due to inflicted nonaccidental trauma to the head, caused by repeated blows or by shaking. (Vol. 3 RP 405-06, 411-12, 417, 425)

Dr. Gregory MacDonald, pediatric neurologist at Sacred Heart, was asked to evaluate the child while in the intensive unit for evidence of severe brain dysfunction. (Vol. 4 RP 607, 610, 612) Reviewing a CT scan of the brain/skull, he noted both a subdural hematoma (bleeding) and brain swelling on the right sight of the head, suggesting a focal rather than generalized trauma. (Vol. 4 RP 617-19, 620-622) The CT scan of the chest/abdomen and x-rays were normal, showing no signs of fracture. (Vol. 4 RP 626-27) He saw old/new bruising and swelling on A.V.'s head, as well as a bite mark on one cheek. (Vol. 4 RP 628-29) He testified that a blow to the head/face sufficient to leave a bruise mark would be adequate trauma to produce a small subdural hematoma within the skull. (Vol. 4 RP 630) He noted similar bruising to the body as did Dr. Hendrickson, characterizing them variously as relatively recent or from a longer time ago, perhaps a week. (Vol. 4 RP 631-32, 638) Based on his examination and his observations that the child was comatose, not responsive to sensory input, on a ventilator unable to breathe on his own, with old and fresh bleeding in his eyes, and with a non-functioning brain stem, Dr. MacDonald concluded A.V. was brain dead. (Vol. 4 RP 632-38)

Some of A.V.'s body organs were donated at Yolanda's request. (Vol. 8 RP 1534) Later that day, Dr. Marco Rossi, deputy medical examiner for Spokane County, performed the autopsy. (Vol. 6 RP 1080) The brain injuries and bruising to the body were estimated to have occurred 1-3 days prior to February 2, 2005, the date of cardiac arrest. (Vol. 6 RP 1112, 1126, 1138) Dr. Rossi concluded the cause of death was "a subdural hemorrhage with cerebral edema or swelling of the brain and herniation due to a blunt force impact to the head." (Vol. 6 RP 1147) He did not feel the other injuries were a significant contributory factor. (Vol. <u>6 RP 1156</u>) He classified the manner of death as "homicide." (Vol. 6 RP 1148) He believed his findings "are consistent with the fact that this child was abused and ultimately died as a result of these abusive injuries." (Vol. <u>6 RP 1149</u>)

Defense experts Dr. John Plunkett and Dr. Karen Griest testified A.V. was a battered child; however the fatal head injury could have

ę

occurred from an accidental fall. (<u>Vol. 7</u> RP 1305, 1309, 1357-58, 1371-72) They did not think it unreasonable to characterize the manner of death as homicide. (<u>Vol. 7</u> RP 1220, 1331, 1373)

÷

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