NO. 24958-1 & 24957-3

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JON DEVON and YOLANDA DEVON APPELLANTS.

SECOND AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KARL F. SLOAN PROSECUTING ATTORNEY OKANOGAN COUNTY

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

RP Individual Jury Questioning, Vol. I and II. At the conclusion of individual questioning, questioning of the entire panel again resumed in open court. <u>See</u> 1/10/06 RP; RP 1.

The <u>Bone-Club</u> court cited to <u>Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa</u>, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982), for the proposition that "an *opportunity* to object holds no practical meaning unless the court informs potential objectors of the nature of the asserted interest (emphasis added). <u>Bone-Club</u> at 261 (citing <u>Ishikawa</u> at 39). The cases require an opportunity to object, not an invitation. In <u>Ishikawa</u>, the court stated:

Anyone present when the closure [and/or sealing] motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the suggested restriction. For this opportunity to have meaning, the proponent must have stated the grounds for the motion with reasonable specificity, consistent with the protection of the right sought to be protected. At a minimum, potential objectors should have sufficient information to be able to appreciate the damages which would result from free access to the proceeding and/or records. This knowledge would enable the potential objector to better evaluate whether or not to object and on what grounds to base its opposition. (Emphasis added; internal citations omitted.)

Ishikawa at 38. The record in the present case included repeated warnings to the jury to avoid discussing the case, exposure to media, etc. It also included a discussion with a juror who responded to the judge's question about following the law and the presumption of innocence. 1/10/06 RP, p. 17-18. The juror began to disclose what he read and was stopped by the judge, who advised that some of the questions on the questionnaire would ask jurors if they had impressions of the

case and that they would be able to express those impressions in the questionnaire. 1/10/06 RP, p. 17-18.

The judge also explained that the questionnaires would be used for limited purpose of selecting the jury and used only by the court and attorneys. 1/10/06 RP, p. 23. The jurors were then advised that individual questioning would be conducted based on the questionnaires. 1/10/06 RP, p. 25. The judge also invited and responded to questions about the individual questioning schedule. 1/10/06 RP, p. 26-29.

During jury selection, the judge also asked if there were any jurors who were told or overheard information from another juror who was excused, as to why they were excused. RP 15. One juror responded in the affirmative, and a second session of individual questioning of that juror followed. RP 15, 56.

The record was sufficient to demonstrate that potential objectors present were provided with the opportunity, and with sufficient information, to object to the limited restriction of individual questioning. There is a sufficient record to support the Respondent's argument regarding the second Bone-Club factor.

The third factor is whether the court uses the least restrictive means of achieving its goals. That was done in the present case. There was no way to question potential jurors with regard to their written answers except for making individual inquiry. Individual questioning was necessary to avoid tainting the entire panel in light of the change of venue motion. The physical layout of the Okanogan

County Superior Court and courthouse does not permit, for example, holding large groups of jurors in another location and bringing jurors who are subject to individual questioning into the open courtroom.² Moreover, in this case, general questions were conducted in open court, both before and after the individual questioning.

The fourth factor, the weighing of the interests, clearly favored "closure". The defendants' were the proponents of closure to ensure selection of a fair jury. In this case, the defendants' right to a fair trial was substantially greater than the right to have the public present for a limited portion of individual questioning. The need of defendants to obtain a fair jury by discerning individual jurors' exposure to publicity and their potential prejudices related to the nature of the crime, would substantially conflict with the right to have *all* questioning done in open court. The

There is no available nearby physical space hold the large jury panel outside of the courtroom for the number of days necessary to complete jury selection. The record reflects that during the questioning, jurors had to remain in the courtroom despite tight seating. 1/10/06 RP, p. 25-26, 29; RP 11, 14. More importantly, the parties do not have the ability to conduct side bars, make and discuss challenges, etc. in the open court room and at the same time create a sufficient digital recorded record. To do so would require clearing the courtroom each time. See State v. Clinkenbeard, 130 Wn. App. 552, 571, 123 P.3d 872 (2005). The record in the present case contains reference to the limitations of the electronic recording system, and that sidebars and objections could not be recorded with the jury present. See e.g., RP 15, 59, 188, 208, 999-1000.

defendants' right to have a fair trial certainly outweighed the public's minimal interest in the jurors' individual private responses.

The fifth factor was also satisfied, in that the questioning of each juror was brief and limited. The entire panel was subject to questioning in open court before and after the individual questioning. The limited closure was not more broad or extensive than was necessary.

The five-factor test clearly favored the limited or partial closing of the courtroom. The court did not err in permitting individual voir dire outside of the public eye.

To find that the use of limited individual questioning is a violation of the right to a public trial (in a case involving heinous allegations and a documented concern about pre trial publicity tainting jurors) would create a Hobson's choice for the court. The court risked either: jeopardizing defendants' right to receive a fair trial if the entire panel were tainted and/or additional damaging publicity were created by conducting the questioning in public; or it risked violating the right to a public trial by acceding to the defendants' desire to question individual jurors in chambers.

c. The issue of a violation of public trial was invited error where defendants were the proponents of the limited closure.

A defendant does not waive his right to appeal the closure of the courtroom by failing to lodge a contemporaneous objection. State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d

at 257 (citing State v. Marsh, 126 Wash. 142, 146-47, 217 P. 705 (1923). As discussed above, however, a defendant can still waive this constitutional right.

Additionally, the doctrine of invited error "prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." <u>State v. Pam</u>, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984), overruled on other grounds; <u>State v. Olson</u>, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995). The doctrine of invited error is applicable to cases involving claims of improper closure.

Defendants and their counsel should not be entitled to permit a potential structural error to occur, and then proceed through trial, comforted by the fact that their tacit consent to closure of the courtroom will not be held against them should they be convicted, when they seek automatic reversal on appeal. As Justice Frankfurter observed, in Levine v. United States, 362 U.S. 610, 619-20, 80 S. Ct. 1038, 4 L. Ed. 2d 989 (1960), a case involving the closure of a criminal contempt proceeding where there were no signs whatsoever that the court abused the closure to the defendant's disadvantage:

Due regard generally for the public nature of the judicial process does not require disregard of the solid demands of the fair administration of justice in favor of a party who, at the appropriate time and acting under advice of counsel, saw no disregard of a right, but raises an abstract claim only as an afterthought on appeal.

In the present case, there was invited error. Similarly, the defendants' subsequent claim of violation of public trial should be deemed to have been waived. A valid waiver does not require an explicit statement of waiver by the

defendant. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 373-76, 99 S. Ct. 1755, 1757-59, 60 L. Ed. 2d 286 (1979); State v. Thomas, 128 Wn.2d 553, 558-561, 910 P.2d 475 (1996) (waiver of right to testify at trial). Rather, the waiver can be inferred from conduct. State v. Thomas, supra at 559.

Appellate courts have found arguments to be waived for appeal by the apparent conscious decision not to pursue an obvious issue in the trial court. For instance, in State v. Valladares, 99 Wn.2d 663, 664 P.2d 508 (1983), the defense had filed a pre-trial motion to suppress evidence, but then withdrew the motion. When defendant tried to raise the issue on appeal, the court declined to hear the motion as it was "waived or abandoned". Id. at 672. In State v. Walton, 76 Wn. App. 364, 884 P.2d 1348 (1994), review denied 126 Wn.2d 1024 (1995), defendant failed to challenge at trial the admission of a videotaped deposition even though his counsel had stated at the time of the deposition that the defense might object to its use at trial. Division One declined to hear the constitutional challenge on appeal, concluding that it was not appropriate to hear the issue under RAP 2.5(a)(3) because the defense "consciously decided not to raise" the issue at trial. Id. at 370. "A conscious decision not to raise a constitutional issue at trial effectively serves as an affirmative waiver...." Id.

In the instant case, defendants were aware of their right to public trial.

Defendants participated in the individual questioning as it was clearly in their best interest. The defendant's have failed to demonstrate any prejudice flowing from

questioning of jurors individually. The trial court sought to address defendants' expressed concerns of potentially tainted jurors in the particular venue by allowing a supplemental questionnaire and the limited individual questioning. The process was essential to preserve the higher values of providing defendants with a fair trial.

The defendants should be deemed to have waived any subsequent challenge to the process that was intended to safeguard their right to a fair trial.

- 2. The jury instruction for manslaughter and accomplice liability accurately stated the law and did not mislead the jury or relieve the State of its burden.
 - a. The accomplice instruction given did not impose a duty to act.

Appellant Yolanda Devon claims the accomplice jury instructions permitted the jury to find her guilty based on an improper legal basis, i.e. that as an accomplice she had a duty to act.

Jury instructions are properly given if they are supported by evidence sufficient to permit a rational trier of fact to convict the defendant. See State v. Munden, 81 Wn. App. 192, 195, 913 P.2d 421 (1996) (stating, "It is error to submit . . . a theory for which there is insufficient evidence.") (citing State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654, 845 P.2d 289, cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944, 126 L. Ed. 2d 331, 114 S. Ct. 382 (1993) (requiring that instructions be supported by the evidence)). To

survive a challenge to its sufficiency, evidence need only be sufficient to permit conviction; no more can be required to permit the giving of an instruction.

The appellant Yolanda Devon cites to <u>State v. Jackson</u> 137 Wn.2d 712, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999) for the proposition that accomplice liability does not attach to a person's failure to act. The same argument was raised in <u>State v. Berube</u>, 150 Wn.2d 498 (2003). The defendant makes the same error in her argument as the defendant in Berube.

In <u>Jackson</u>, a couple was charged with murdering their foster child. The trial court instructed the jury that "[u]nless there is a legal duty to act, more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of another must be shown to establish that a person present is an accomplice; <u>a legal duty exists for a parent to come to the aid of their small children if physically capable of doing so."</u> (emphasis added). <u>Jackson</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 719. Because the Legislature deliberately declined to adopt language, extending accomplice liability to a failure to act, our Supreme Court held that accomplice liability in Washington did not attach if a party simply failed to act. <u>Jackson</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 723-24.

The instruction given in <u>Jackson</u> incorrectly defined accomplice liability.

Unlike the accomplice liability instruction in <u>Jackson</u>, that stated there was a legal duty to act, the accomplice instruction in this case did not. CP-D 371.

Proximate cause, on the other hand, is an element of homicide by abuse or manslaughter. It is *not* an element of accomplice liability and does not pertain to

accomplice liability. One can be an accomplice without having proximately caused any injury. Conversely, one can proximately cause the death of a child without being an accomplice to homicide by abuse.

The accomplice liability instruction in this case, like in <u>Berube</u>, defined accomplice liability solely in affirmative terms; it does not allow a jury to impose liability for a defendant's failure to act. The last sentence of the accomplice liability instruction expressly absolves either defendant from accomplice liability if he or she simply failed act: "...more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of another must be shown to establish that a person present is an accomplice". CP-D 370-71.

The accomplice instruction in this case did not allow finding guilt on an improper legal basis.

b. Any error in the accomplice instruction was harmless and could not have relieved the State of its burden

Appellant Yolanda Devon claims that the accomplice instruction given was erroneous when it referred to "a crime" rather than "the crime". General knowledge of "the crime" is sufficient for conviction under the accomplice liability statute; knowledge by the accomplice that the principal intends to commit "a crime" does not impose strict liability for any and all offenses that follow. See State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 509-13, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); see also, State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000) (the fact that a purported accomplice knows that the

principal intends to commit "a crime" does not necessarily mean that accomplice liability attaches for any and all offenses ultimately committed by the principal). However, if the accomplice jury instruction was erroneous, it was a harmless error.

In <u>State v. Brown</u>, 147 Wn.2d 330, 58 P.3d 889 (2002), an identical accomplice liability jury instruction was given. The court found that although it was a misstatement of the law to instruct a jury that a person is an accomplice if he or she acts with knowledge that his or her actions will promote any crime, not every omission or misstatement in a jury instruction relieves the State of its burden so as to require reversal. <u>Id.</u> at 339.

An instruction that omits an element of the offense does not necessarily render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence. <u>Brown</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 340 (citing <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999))

Under the test for harmless error adopted in <u>Brown</u>, it must appear beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the ultimate verdict. <u>Brown</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 341. When applied to an element omitted from, or misstated in, a jury instruction, the error is harmless if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence. <u>Id</u>.

The error can also be held harmless if accomplice liability was considered by the jury only in terms of the charged crimes. <u>Berube</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 506 (citing <u>State v. Borrero</u>, 147 Wn.2d 353, 365, 58 P.3d 245 (2002)). If the record supports

a finding that the jury verdict would be the same absent the error, harmless error may be found. Id.

In the present case, both defendants were charged with homicide by abuse for the death of Aden. Jon Devon was convicted of that offense. There were no other uncharged crimes or offenses at issue for the jury to consider. The accomplice jury instruction therefore could not have relieved the State of its burden. Any error was harmless.

3. There was sufficient evidence to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt

a. <u>Substantial evidence of abuse inflicted upon Aden established</u> guilt beyond a reasonable doubt for both defendants

The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

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